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While the prohibition on unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or
affecting commerce (UDAPs) by financial institutions is not new, we
have observed a noticeable uptick over the past few years in the
number of alleged UDAPs cited by federal banking regulators in the
course of examinations. Acts or practices that, historically, may have
been identified within an examination as a violation of a specific
consumer protection statute or regulation (e.g., TILA, TISA, RESPA, etc.)
and typically addressed in the examination report as a matter requiring
attention (MRA), appear to be more frequently considered and
scrutinized as potential UDAPs. In addition, acts or practices that are in
technical compliance with consumer protection statutes and
regulations may nonetheless be scrutinized as potential UDAPs.

The potential impact on financial institutions in this area can be
significant. A finding of a UDAP can subject an institution to increased
supervisory and enforcement consequences, which, in addition to
restitution and uncomfortable communications with customers, may
include formal or informal enforcement actions, downgrades in
compliance and/or CRA ratings, and possible civil money penalties.
These supervisory and enforcement actions can further result in
significant restrictions on a financial institution’s ability to engage in
acquisition transactions, branch and market expansions, and new lines
of business.

In view of the foregoing, it is important for all financial institutions to be
aware of the types of acts and practices that may implicate concerns,
and of the standards and policies established by the federal banking
regulators and the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) in
interpreting and applying the prohibitions on unfair, deceptive and
abusive practices.

https://www.vorys.com/holaday
https://www.vorys.com/weis
https://www.vorys.com/industry-banking


WWW.VORYS.COM

Background

Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act (FTC Act) prohibits all persons, including banks and other
financial institutions, from engaging in "unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce."1 
The FTC’s prohibition on unfair or deceptive acts or practices has been the subject of examination and
enforcement by the bank regulators for several years. Pursuant to Section 8 of the Federal Deposit
Insurance Act,2 the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC), the Board of Governors of the Federal
Reserve System (FRB) and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ((FDIC) and together with the OCC
and the FRB, the federal banking regulators) are authorized to take appropriate action against national
and state banking institutions for violations of any laws or regulations, including Section 5 of the FTC Act.
Between 2002 and 2004, the federal banking regulators issued specific guidance to financial institutions
addressing the enforcement of the UDAP prohibition and setting forth standards for what constitutes an
unfair or deceptive act or practice.3

In 2010, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (Dodd-Frank Act) implemented
an additional statutory prohibition on engaging in unfair and deceptive acts and practices and also
introduced a further prohibition on "abusive" acts and practices. Pursuant to Sections 1031 and 1036 of the
Dodd-Frank Act, it is unlawful for any provider of a consumer financial product or service to engage in any
unfair, deceptive or abusive act or practice (a UDAAP) in the offering or provision of such product or service.
The Dodd-Frank Act further provided the CFPB with rule-making, supervisory and enforcement authority
to prevent unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or practices in connection with the offering or provision of a
consumer financial product or service.

While the CFPB has the express authority to bring enforcement actions against financial institutions for
acts and practices it has deemed to be unfair, deceptive or abusive (and has in fact brought such actions),
much of the supervision and enforcement continues to be done by the federal banking regulators. This is
especially the case for community banks, where most alleged unfair or deceptive acts or practices
continue to be raised in the course of regular safety and soundness or compliance examinations.

Virtually any consumer product or service can potentially implicate UDAP or UDAAP concerns. The Federal
Trade Commission, as well as the federal banking regulators and the CFPB, have specifically identified
certain acts and practices that pose significant risk of being viewed as unfair, deceptive or abusive through
regulation, guidance and enforcement actions. Particular areas of concern that have been identified
include acts and practices regarding:

● Overdraft fees

● ATM fees

● Calculation of interest rates

● Mortgage servicing

● Collection activities

● Loan payment processing and late fees

● Advertising and marketing of loans and deposit products
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Ultimately, a finding of a UDAP or UDAAP is dependent upon the application of a set of general standards
and principals to the particular facts and circumstances of each case. This article is a brief summary of
these general standards and principals.

What Constitutes an Unfair Practice?

The standard for determining whether an act or practice is unfair is the same under both the FTC Act and
the Dodd-Frank Act. Pursuant to guidance issued by the federal banking regulators and the CFPB, an act
or practice will be considered to be unfair if (1) it causes or is likely to cause substantial injury to consumers,
(2) the injury caused by the act or practice is one that consumers could not reasonably have avoided, and
(3) the injury is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition.

In addition, public policy may be considered as a factor in determining whether an act or practice is unfair,
although public policy considerations alone will not be the primary basis for such determination. For
example, the fact that a particular act or practice is a violation of a federal or state banking or consumer
protection law or regulation can be considered as evidence that the act or practice is unfair. Likewise, the
fact that a particular act or practice is permitted or expressly authorized by federal or state law can be
considered as evidence that the act or practice is not unfair. As stated above, however, an act or practice
can be found to constitute an unfair, deceptive or abusive practice even where the act or practice is in
technical compliance with applicable substantive laws and regulations.

In interpreting and applying the three-prong test for unfairness, the federal banking regulators and the
CFPB have provided the following guidance:

● Intent to cause injury to consumers is not required. An act or practice will be deemed to be unfair if each
of the three prongs above are satisfied, even if the act or practice was taken in good faith and/or the
injury to consumers was inadvertent or unintended.

● While "substantial injury" usually requires monetary harm to consumers, the amount of monetary harm
can be relatively small. In addition, an act or practice that causes a small amount of harm to a large
number of customers can be deemed to cause substantial injury.

● It is not relevant whether a consumer could have made a better choice if an act or practice hinders a
consumer’s ability to make decisions or to take action to avoid injury. Consumers cannot reasonably
avoid injury from an act or practice if it interferes with their ability to effectively make informed
decisions, such as where material information is withheld from consumers or is modified after the
consumer has committed to purchase the product or service.

● To be considered unfair, an act or practice must be injurious in its net effects after considering any
offsetting consumer or competitive benefits, such as lower prices to the consumer, as well as the
increased costs that would be incurred by the financial institution to take preventative measures. In
general, the fact that other consumers may have benefited from the act or practice, or that the financial
institution itself was negatively impacted on a net basis by the act or practice, will not be considered as
offsetting the harm caused to an injured consumer or group of consumers.

Publications



WWW.VORYS.COM

What Constitutes a Deceptive Practice?

A three-prong test is also used to determine whether a representation, omission, act or practice is
deceptive under the FTC Act or under the Dodd-Frank Act. To be considered deceptive, (1) there must be a
representation, omission, act or practice that misleads or is likely to mislead the consumer, (2) the
representation, omission, act or practice must be deceptive from the perspective of a reasonable
consumer, and (3) the representation, omission, act or practice must be material.

In interpreting and applying the three-prong test for determining whether an act or practice is deceptive,
the Federal Banking Regulators and the CFPB have provided the following guidance:

● Acts and practices that have the potential to be misleading or deceptive include false oral or written
representations; misleading claims about costs or prices of products or services; use of bait-and-switch
techniques; omitting material limitations or conditions from an offer; and failure to provide promised
products or services.

● An act or practice may be deceptive even without proof that consumers have actually been misled if it is
determined that the act or practice is likely to mislead a reasonable consumer.

● If a representation conveys multiple meanings to reasonable consumers and one meaning is
misleading, the representation may be considered deceptive even if the misleading interpretation is not
shared by a majority of relevant consumers so long as a significant minority of such consumers is
misled.

● When representations, acts or practices are targeted to a specific audience or class, such as elderly,
young or financially unsophisticated consumers, the perspective of a reasonable consumer will be
based upon the impact on a reasonable member of that audience or class.

● The entire advertisement, transaction, or course of dealing is evaluated in determining how a reasonable
consumer would respond. For example, oral disclosures or fine print may be considered insufficient to
cure a misleading headline or prominent written representation.

● A representation, omission, act or practice is material if it is likely to affect a consumer’s decision
regarding a product or service. In general, information about costs, benefits, or restrictions on the use or
availability of a product or service will be deemed material. In addition, any claims made with the
knowledge that they are false will be presumed to be material.

What Constitutes an Abusive Practice?

As indicated above, the Dodd-Frank Act added a third prong to the traditional prohibitions under the FTC
Act by making it unlawful to engage in any abusive act or practice. Enforcement of abusive practices under
the Dodd-Frank Act is delegated exclusively to the CFPB. According to the CFPB, an act or practice will be
considered abusive if it does either of the following:

● Materially interferes with the ability of a consumer to understand a term or condition of a consumer
financial product or service; or

● Takes unreasonable advantage of (i) a lack of understanding on the part of the consumer of the material
risks, costs, or conditions of the product or service, (ii) the inability of the consumer to protect its
interests in selecting or using a consumer financial product or service, or (iii) the reasonable reliance by
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the consumer on the institution to act in the interests of the consumer.

Steps to Manage Risk

Financial institutions should take proactive steps to monitor and manage their UDAP/UDAAP risks in order
to minimize the potential for UDAP/UDAAP findings that could significantly impact their institutions. It is
critical that financial institutions continually review and evaluate their products, services, policies and
procedures for potential issues that could implicate a UDAP/UDAAP. Institutions should carefully review
and scrutinize their consumer products and services, in particular any new products or services, to ensure
that there are no features that could reasonably be considered to be unfair, deceptive or abusive.

Financial institutions should further evaluate and scrutinize on a regular basis the disclosures and
information provided to their consumers to ensure that the information is accurate and complete so that a
reasonable consumer can be expected to understand the information and not be misled or deceived as to
any term or feature of a product or service. Among other things, institutions should ensure that any
contract provision that permits the financial institution to change pricing, fees or other material terms is
disclosed clearly and up-front.

Finally, when an act or practice is identified internally or alleged through a customer complaint and
implicates potential unfair, deceptive or abusive practice concerns, it is imperative that the institution act
diligently to fully investigate the matter, including its scope and potential impact on other consumers.
Once a potentially unfair, deceptive or abusive practice is identified, the financial institution should act
promptly to correct the act or practice and, if necessary, provide an appropriate remedy (which may
include restitution) to affected consumers.

Financial institutions are encouraged to consult their professional advisors and consultants, including legal
counsel, early in this process.

__________

1 15 U.S.C. §45(a)(1).

2 12 U.S.C. §1818.

3 See Guidance on Unfair or Deceptive Acts or Practices, OCC Advisory Letter 2002-3, Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency (March 22, 2002); and Unfair or Deceptive Acts or Practices by State-Chartered
Banks, Financial Institution Letter by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (March 11, 2004).
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